

Africa-Europe BioClimatic buildings for XXI century

FINAL REPORT ON UPDATED TRAINING TOOLS

www.abc21.eu



ABC 21 project

This document has been developed as part of the project titled "ABC 21 – Africa-Europe BioClimatic buildings for XXI century".

The sole responsibility for the content of this presentation lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union. Neither the EASME nor the European Commission are responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.



The project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 894712.

Document information

Name:	D3.13 Final Report on updated training tools		
Date:	31.12.2022		
Work	WP3 Performance indicators and guidelines for XXI century bioclimatic		
Package: buildings and districts			
Task:	Task 3.6 – Update and specialisation of training tools		

Authors

Name	Email	Institution
Niccolò Aste	niccolo.aste@polimi.it	POLIMI
Federico M. Butera	federico.butera@polimi.it	POLIMI
Claudio Del Pero	claudio.delpero@polimi.it	POLIMI
Fabrizio Leonforte	fabrizio.leonforte@polimi.it	POLIMI
Rajendra Adhikari	rajendra.adhikari@polimi.it	POLIMI

Revision

Version	Date	Author	Description of changes
0.1	10.06.2022	C. Del Pero, F. Leonforte	First draft
0.2	21.06.2022	All authors	First full version
0.3	26.07.2022	S. Erba	Quality review
0.4	28.07.2022	S. Kuchar	Quality review
1.0	09.01.2023	C. Del Pero, F. Leonforte	Final version



Executive summary

This document aims at describing the final support materials and tools developed within the ABC 21 project, to design new buildings characterized by low energy consumption.

In detail, an **open-access handbook targeted to consultants/designers** (engineers and architects) and other stakeholders (public authorities, financers, real estate managers, etc.), was prepared on the basis of the publication "Sustainable building design for tropical climates - Principles and Applications for African Countries" [1], also integrating relevant information from "Energy and Resource Efficient Urban Neighborhood Design Principles in Tropical Countries - A Practitioner's Guidebook" [2]. The results is a comprehensive and updated new publication with design concepts that can be applied to all African countries.

The second activity described in this deliverable consists in the improvement and adaptation of a **Building Energy Simulation (BES) tool**, already developed by POLIMI and UN-Habitat for the East African Community, which has the potential to become a reference tool for energy design and certification in African Countries, reaching a wide range of users.

As a third activity, this deliverable describes the preparation of **a MOOC (Massive On-line Open Course)**, summarizing the main contents of the handbook. The MOOC represents an update of the existing version prepared by POLIMI for the East African Community.

Lastly, the document describes the outcomes of the testing session with students, with the scope to gather feedback to further improve the tools.

¹ https://unhabitat.org/sustainable-building-design-for-tropical-climates

² https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/2020/06/gh046e_compressed.pdf

CONTENTS

1	Handbook6
	1.1 Chapter 01: Introduction6
	1.2 Chapter 02: Climates and building design
	1.3 Chapter 03: Climate responsive building design7
	1.4 Chapter 04: Energy efficient buildings design8
	1.5 Chapter 05: Design at community scale
	1.6 Chapter 06: Renewable energy technologies9
	1.7 Chapter 07: Net zero energy buildings and communities9
	1.8 Annexes
2	Energy simulation tool11
	2.1 Updated compatibility with new releases
	2.2 More robust geometry modelling
	2.3 Improving envelope components assignment to model's surfaces
	2.4 SHADING SYSTEM MODELLING
	2.5 Model input data double-checking
	2.6 Improved output data visualization and HVAC consumption calculation
3	ONLINE COURSES
4	. FEEDBACK FROM ATTENDEES
5	. APPENDIX

FIGURES

Figure 1: Comparison between the architectural model and the simulation model in BESTenergy	11
Figure 2: Customized menu to apply settings of each zone	12
Figure 3: Warning message about the routine launch confirmation to delete unused	
thermal zones.	14
Figure 4: Assigning constructions to surfaces in previous software release	14
Figure 5: Assigning a different construction set to a zone.	15
Figure 6: Improved shading system modelling interfaces	16
Figure 7: Availability of data summaries, after running a simulation	17
Figure 8: Input Data Summaries	18
Figure 9: "Result Summary" sheet in OpenStudio App	18
Figure 10: Outcomes analysis and visualization by mean of DView interface	19
Figure 11: "Statistics" sheet in DView interface and right-click menu.	19
Figure 12: Output data sent to excel	20
Figure 13: Building data section in step 11	20
Figure 14: Ventilation section in step 11.	21
Figure 15: Heating System section in step 11.	21
Figure 16: Cooling System section in step 11	21
Figure 17: Building Energy Consumption section in step 11, with simulated outcomes	23
Figure 18: Building Energy Consumption section in step 11, with customized input	23



TABLES

Table 1: Sections of Chapter 1 with updates/modifications	. 6
Table 2: Sections of Chapter 2 with updates/modifications	. 6
Table 3: Sections of Chapter 3 with updates/modifications	. 7
Table 4: Sections of Chapter 4 with updates/modifications	. 8
Table 5: Sections of Chapter 5 with updates/modifications	. 9
Table 6: Sections of Chapter 6 with updates/modifications	. 9

1 Handbook

This section describes the structure of the new handbook that has been developed within ABC 21 project. Specifically, the current version of the publication was implemented and tailored according to the target countries of the project. In detail, for each chapter a brief description of the contents, the list of sections and the specification of updates/modifications currently implemented is provided.

1.1 Chapter 01: Introduction

Starting from background information on climate change and its relation to building energy efficiency, chapter 1 provides designers with information on different phases of the building design and the integrated design process for sustainable buildings. Further, some inherent issues on building design are briefly discussed, mainly in relation to architecture, the use of materials and energy systems.

Sections	Updates/modifications
1.1 Background	Updated data on GHG emissions and ecological footprints.
1.2 The building sector	Updated data on world GHG emission flow-chart.
1.3 Integrated design	Updated design strategy methodology and related schemes. The role of "Energy and Building's Metabolism" which takes into account the embodied energy of buildings, has been introduced.
1.4 Architecture in Tropical climates	Updated with motivation of the extension to all relevant climates of Africa.
1.5 A new energy system for settlements	Minor updates and modifications.

Table 1: Sections of Chapter 1 with updates/modifications

1.2 Chapter 02: Climates and building design

In order to be low energy and sustainable, buildings must be climate responsive, which means that their design must be climate dependent. The climate classification developed for the Handbook is based on the effect of the climatic context on building energy performance and occupant comfort conditions.

In detail, Chapter 2 begins with a description of the main climatic parameters for building design and the methodology for climate classification; subsequently, it provides a climatic classification of Africa, describing features and comfort conditions of each relevant climatic zone.

Table 2: Sections of Chapter 2 with updates/modifications

Updates/modifications





2.1 Climatic parameters	 Updated by including all relevant African locations in the following: Figure 2.1-17 Monthly irradiation in three sites Table 2.1-2-4 Radiation square Figure 2.1-19 Monthly pattern and temperature variation Figure 2.1-26 Relative humidity vs. dry bulb temperature
2.2 Climatic classification	Updated and extended for whole Africa; in particular, 2 additional climatic zones were added and described.

1.3 Chapter 03: Climate responsive building design

The energy efficiency level of a building is determined by how it is designed, built and operated and the way it is integrated into the urban layout. To reduce its energy consumption and be sustainable, a building must be designed and constructed using shapes, technologies and materials most appropriate to the specific context. Passive cooling techniques like natural ventilation and natural cooling can be used to reduce and, in some cases, eliminate mechanical cooling requirements in areas where cooling is a dominant problem such as Africa. To control heat gains and light provided by the sun it is necessary to rely on a good knowledge about its apparent paths and amount of energy supplied.

Chapter 3 addresses and describes in detail the above aspects related to "Design with climates". Moreover, it also provides a set of design guidelines and some examples of vernacular, colonial and pre-colonial architecture in African countries.

Sections	Updates/modifications
3.1 Passive Design	Minor updates and modifications.
3.2 Bioclimatic charts	Extended for additional African locations based on new climatic zones.
3.3 Site planning	Updated and extended according to the climates.
3.4 Building design	The section "The Kitchen" was removed.
3.5 Natural Ventilation	Minor updates and modifications.
3.6 Daylighting	The Section 3.6.2.3 "Systems with Anidolic Ceilings" was excluded.
3.7 Shading	Minor updates and modifications.
3.8 Natural cooling	Minor updates and modifications.
3.9 Building materials	Updated including more local materials and techniques.
3.10 Design guidelines according to African climates	Updated for additional relevant climatic zones.

Table 3: Sections of Chapter 3 with updates/modifications



ABC 21

3.11. Lessons from	
the past	

The section has been removed.

1.4 Chapter 04: Energy efficient buildings design

For buildings in African climates equipped with HVAC systems (heating, ventilation and air conditioning), a substantial part of the energy consumption is due to summertime air conditioning needs. Chapter 4 describes in detail the design of building envelope (opaque and glazed components), HVAC and lighting systems. Moreover, the strategies for effective energy retrofit of existing buildings are discussed.

Simulation tools are shown to play a critical role for assisting the designer to optimise the energy and comfort performances in designing new buildings and in the retrofit of existing buildings, for such a reason, this chapter also provides the description on various dynamic simulation tools currently available in the market.

Lastly, the energy performance certification and green building rating systems currently used in different countries are presented.

Sections	Updates/modifications
4.1 The envelope	Minor updates and modifications.
4.2 Building services	 Updates on: Energy supply systems, with more recent technological solutions (e.g. heat pumps for domestic hot water production) and solutions suitable for new climatic zones; new schemes and figures were added accordingly. Lighting systems, with new lighting fixtures and technologies. Some rules of thumb to quickly design a lighting system have been provided.
4.3 Hybrid ventilation	Minor updates and modifications.
4.4 Existing Buildings	Update data on energy consumption of existing buildings.
4.5 Simulation tools	The chapter is totally revised in order to provide a methodological approach to BES.
4.6 Certification & energy codes	Update on South Africa Building codes, also citing European and other relevant codes to be used as a reference.

Table 4: Sections of Chapter 4 with updates/modifications

1.5 Chapter 05: Design at community scale

Climate responsive design of buildings is based on the definition of strategies at community scale. For such a reason, Chapter 5 provides the fundamental knowledge on the process of designing sustainable communities considering different aspects from energy and water



use to waste management. This chapter has been updated with the detailed contents reported in *"Energy and Resource Efficient Urban Neighborhood Design Principles in Tropical Countries - A Practitioner's Guidebook"*, providing a synthesis of the most relevant design principles and an extension to all African reference climates.

Sections	Updates/modifications
5.1 Energy and the urban metabolism	Updated with contents of the Guidebook, extended to the whole Africa.
5.2 Water and sanitation	Updated with contents of the Guidebook, extended to the whole Africa.
5.3 Solid waste management	Updated with contents of the Guidebook, extended to the whole Africa.

Table 5: Sections of Chapter 5 with updates/modifications

1.6 Chapter 06: Renewable energy technologies

Renewables can be used for both electricity and heat generation. There is a wide range of renewable energy technologies suitable to be implemented in African countries for a whole variety of different applications; thus, the designer must have a good knowledge of common renewable energy technologies and their potential contribution to an energy efficient building design. For this purpose, Chapter 6 aims to provide designers with basic knowledge on common renewable energy technologies (solar, wind, biomass, hydro) currently available in the market, their possible application and sizing methods.

Table 6: Sections of Chapter 6 with updates/modifications

Sections	Updates/modifications				
6.1 Solar PV	Minor updates and modifications.				
6.2 Solar Thermal	Minor updates and modifications.				
6.3 Wind energy Minor updates and modifications.					
6.4 Biomass Minor updates and modifications					
6.5 Hydropower	Minor updates and modifications.				

1.7 Chapter 07: Net zero energy buildings and communities

Designing and creating a zero-energy building (ZEB) involves significant changes at technical, economic and cultural levels. For this reason, Chapter 7 provides basic definitions of ZEB, describes principles related to energy balance and load matching. Furthermore, some relevant examples of Net Zero Energy Buildings and Net Zero Energy Communities in tropical and other relevant African climates are presented and discussed.

Table 7: Sections of Chapter 7 with updates/modifications

	Sections Updates/modifications
--	--------------------------------



7.1 Net Zero Energy Buildings	Updated according to more recent directives and definitions; update of NZEB case studies with examples representative for the whole Africa.
7.2 Net Zero Energy Communities	Updated according to more recent directives and definitions; update of NZEC case studies with examples representative for the whole Africa.

1.8 Annexes

To ensure a proper background knowledge and to support the understanding of the 7 above-described chapters, some additional contents are provided, grouped in 4 appendixes. More in detail, the first one contains principles of building physics (heat transfer, building energy balance and primary energy), the second appendix deals with thermal and comfort.

Sections	Updates/modifications
APPENDIX 01: Principles of building physics	Minor updates and modifications.
APPENDIX 02: Principles of thermal, visual and acoustic comfort	A specific chapter about "Acoustic Comfort" has been added.
APPENDIX 03: Exercises	Removed
APPENDIX 04: Case studies	Removed
Glossary	Updated
Bibliography	Updated

The handbook can be downloaded at the following link: https://www.dropbox.com/sh/pagnvsxzgt198hy/AADk5QWtrYc7mWjMWL-MpLmfa?dl=0



2 Energy simulation tool

Assessing the energy performance in the design phase of a NZEB requires a detailed dynamic building energy simulation (BES) tool, developed to be used in an intuitive way starting from the architectural concept.

For such aim, an open-source, free-redistributable, intuitive and powerful building energy simulation software (BESTenergy) was developed by POLIMI under an UN-Habitat collaboration, taking into account the main features required in the African context. In particular, the tool has been developed on the basis of NREL OpenStudio platform, which represents the state of the art in terms of Graphical User Interface for building energy simulation; the obtained BES tool has the main key characteristics listed below.

- It runs on the EnergyPlus engine, which is the state-of-the-art tool for dynamic building energy simulation; this ensures an accurate evaluation, especially in cooling-dominated buildings and in hot climates, where dynamic paths heavily affect buildings' thermal behaviour and energy performance. In such a context, designers need accurate, hourly-based simulations, considering the actual building's thermal response due to the variation of the outdoor conditions through the day.
- It adopts the Sketchup's user interface, to overcome the hardness in compiling a dynamic building energy model; this way, the easiness in geometric modelling of Sketchup is coupled with the reliability and accuracy of EnergyPlus. In fact, users can easily and quickly build an energy model by using the simplified graphical interface, so that the plugin creates the input data file to be processed by the simulation engine with few simple steps. In addition, some macros are developed to generate geometries and to automate modelling process.



Figure 1: Comparison between the architectural model and the simulation model in BESTenergy

More in detail, the tool evaluates:

- Heating, cooling and lighting energy consumptions on the same model and their interaction, letting user to interactively optimize overall energy behaviour;
- Effects of movable shading devices;
- Thermal comfort levels, by using both adaptive comfort models and PMV/PPD method;
- The behaviour of each building surface (e.g., surface temperature, amount of heat gain, etc.);
- Daylighting and simple artificial lighting systems;
- Hourly power consumption;
- HVAC systems preliminary sizing;
- HVAC systems hourly performances.



NREL OpenStudio was developed with the goal of allowing third party developers for separated modules and functionalities. However, the lack of intuitiveness in modelling process in such a tool is addressed in the project by developing customized and user-friendly interfaces required to model strategic items in energy optimization design, with specific reference to the African context.

More in detail, BESTenergy provides 3 sections:

- Section 1 contains general commands for managing model files;
- Section 2 provides a step-by-step simple modelling to perform a first thermal simulation of the building, in which users are guided in following a procedure in sequence, by a tailored command menu;
- Section 3 groups additional commands to model advanced issues, such as HVAC systems, lighting, and shading analysis.

According to the above-described structure, users can start from a template, in which the main settings (in terms of user profile, occupancy, heat loads, and so on) are available by default data set according to the building use. Thus, by following guided steps in the command menu, it is possible to build an energy model in a very quick and simple way.

Once the template was loaded, the geometry may be created by adding one or more volumes by using available drawing tools. Such tools are very intuitive, and users may also automatically generate some simple zone geometries by using macros. For instance, one can generate a rectangular-shaped or L-shaped space by only giving dimensions in input, instead of drawing it by using SketchUp drawing commands. Then, automated macros convert geometry in thermal zones and the boundary conditions for thermal surfaces will be created. Once the geometry is created, the designer can define material properties and assembly constructions to be applied to model surfaces (walls, floors and so on). Materials are also available by one or more libraries which can be loaded, and which include specific technical solutions to be used in African context.

Subsequently, specific settings of each zone can be easily applied, as shown in the following figure.

iza titolo - SketchUp Make 2017 Modifica Visualiza Talacamara Diseano Strumanti Finanta Estania	ani Guida		×
] 🧳 🖊 ་ 🛇 ་ 📓 ་ 🗇 🦘 🗢 🚮 🕽	Ø 🕮 🔗 🏟 🖉 👂 💥 🚳 😭		
opensitadia Bandaring Taabaan Table 20 😵 💱 🤪 🕮 😯 🕸 🕸		1 1 A 8 1 7 4 7 2 8 8 9 7 F A 9 9	
Simplified Zone Setting			1
People per Floor Area	0.1 [people/m	^2] Thermal Zones List	
People per Floor Area Schedule	Schedule Compact 1	Thermal Zone 1 Thermal Zone 2	
Activity Level Schedule	Schedule Compact 2		
Electric Equipment Power per Floor Area	6 [W/m	^2]	
Electric Equipment Power Schedule	Schedule Compact 1	-	
Ventilation Airflow air_changes_per_ * Rate	0.5		
Ventilation Airflow Rate Schedule	Schedule Compact 1	•	
Heated Zone Constant Setpoint Temperature	Variable Setpoint Temperature	Select all zone	
Heating Setpoint Constant Temperature	20		
Heating Setpoint Temperature Schedule		* JavaScript Alert - file:///C:/Users/Manilo/AppData/Roami	
Cooled Zone 🔹 a Constant Setpoint Temperature	e 🔍 Variable Setpoint Temperature	thermal zones successfully configured	
Constant Cooling Setpoint Temperature	26	Analy to selected zone	
Cooling Setpoint Temperature Schedule		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
			U Misure

Figure 2: Customized menu to apply settings of each zone





Such settings may be loaded by a pre-defined dataset, available by importing some profiles and assigned to different zones by selecting them graphically in the model or in the zone list indicated on the side.

Finally, users may run the simulation using specific weather files related to African context (also including outcomes of Task 3.2), which are included in the tool package, and analyse the results.

With respect to the latest BESTenergy software release, specific update/improvement activities were added within ABC21, as listed below:

- Making the current tool compatible with latest simulation engine (EnergyPlus) and modelling interface (SketchUp) releases;
- Adding an information panel about envelope component's main thermal properties;
- Adding an intuitive interface to automatically assign envelope components to group of surfaces;
- Improving shading system modelling options and enhancing its interface;
- Adding information panel to check main thermal zone settings;
- Improving HVAC system modelling;
- Adding interfaces to improve natural ventilation effects assessment;
- Simplifying the visualisation of final results.

The new functions included in the tool are described hereafter.

2.1 Updated compatibility with new releases

As introduced, the simulation tool under development is based on EnergyPlus simulation engine and on the graphical interface provided by Sketchup. The last release of the tool ensures the compatibility with following supporting software versions:

- EnergyPlus 9.2
- OpenStudio 2.6.0
- SketchUp 2017 Make

Since the latest freeware version of the geometrical modeller SketchUp is the 2017 one, this forced to keep the same version compatibility of older release. More recent versions of that modeller are available only in professional releases or web-based released. The professional ones require to buy a licence, so it is not suitable for training purpose. The web-based version has not a full portability because of the need of an internet connection. Moreover, it doesn't support additional interfaces or plugin, so it is not possible to add custom interfaces, as needed to develop the tool. By the way, these more recent versions do not add useful features for building energy simulation modelling: because of the geometry simplicity of thermal models, commands available in the 2017 version are fully adequate.

About the core of the tool, the compatibility was updated to EnergyPlus 9.2 version and to OpenStudio 2.9.1. This variation gave opportunity to make the software working even on latest computers and operative system versions (both Windows and MAC OS) and to develop new modelling features supported by simulation engine and by the OpenStudio middleware.

2.2 More robust geometry modelling

The previous release was largely tested over a large population of users, mainly students of academic courses. Observing most common errors occurring in modelling the building, some improvements were designed in order to avoid them.

First, some problems in dividing surfaces that were in contact with many other thermal zones were noted. More in detail, in case of complex building geometry, with non-regular overlapping between the zones, user had to apply some geometry simplification in order to let the





automated surface splitting in "Step 4 - Surface Boundary Conditions" command to properly work. This operation was not so intuitive. To solve this issue, a more robust automated operation has been introduced after being tested on such complex building geometry.

Another frequent found error consisted in adding some zones that were not populated with building geometry. For this reason, before starting simulation, an automated check was introduced. In case the routine founds some unused zone, it warns the user ant it deletes them.



Figure 3: Warning message about the routine launch confirmation to delete unused thermal zones.

2.3 Improving envelope components assignment to model's surfaces

The procedure to assign envelope components to each model surface in the last software version was carried out as explained in the following. Once all constructions were defined, the user had to open the "Inspector" tool, then select one surface at a time and fill the "Construction Name" field with the proper component name shown in the drop down menu (see Figure 4).



Figure 4: Assigning constructions to surfaces in previous software release.

This time-consuming task was partially solved by introducing in the starting template some default components. They were automatically assigned according to each surface type (i.e. construction "Wall 1" was assigned to exterior wall surfaces, and so on...). By the way, in case of more complex buildings, where each surface type may have different constructions (i.e. exterior walls surfaces may have different components in the model), this issue was not solved.

Thanks to new release features, this problem was solved, since the "Construction Set" object was added. A "Construction Set" is a collection of components, where to each surface type, a



corresponding construction to be assigned is set. By letting the user to add more than one construction set, one can assign a different collection of components for each zone.

To do that, user must open "Inspector" tool and select the wanted zone in the model. In the "Default Construction Set Name" field, user may set the wanted one.



Figure 5: Assigning a different construction set to a zone.

2.4 SHADING SYSTEM MODELLING

The solar control strategy is crucial in properly designing a building.

Most simulation tools only consider fixed shading systems with no opportunity to properly evaluate the effect of movable shadings. The previous version of the tool allowed to set some parameters to take into account for the user behaviour in moving or modulating the shading system, but this feature had to be performed by the modeller, assuming the time when the shading system was deactivated, activated and modulated.

For instance, one needed to set a schedule to define that the shading system was not activated when not useful (i.e. in coldest periods) and when it was activated because of overheating problems (i.e. in warmest periods).

The new release lets users to link the operation of a movable shading system based on the environmental condition that actually occurs at each time-step, simulating, in this way, actions performed by people occupying the building or by automated activators coupled with sensors.

The environmental conditions that can manage the simulation of the shading system operation mainly deals with:

- solar radiation striking on each single window or on horizontal plane;
- outdoor air temperature;
- indoor air temperature;
- room cooling load;
- room illuminance requirement;



• glare occurring.

This automated feature allows to get more reliable information on effects of a movable shading system both on the thermal balance and on the daylighting availability of the room. Moreover, a set of common shading systems and control data is provided in the template file, in order to give some references to the user.



Figure 6: Improved shading system modelling interfaces.

2.5 Model input data double-checking

Another issue that figured out from the beta-testing phase was the lack of double-checking on model data inputs by user, especially about the obtained envelope thermal properties and building user profiles set for each thermal zone.

Thanks to added feature, after a successful simulation, the user can double check input data by mean of the last sheet in the OpenStudioApp (see Figure 7).





Figure 7: Availability of data summaries, after running a simulation.

Here some summaries are plotted, as reported in the table of contents. For the introduced purpose, the "Envelope Summary" is very interesting; here, the user can double-check, for each model surface, the assigned envelope component and the related thermal properties.

Also, the "Input Verification and Result Summary" can show assigned data for each thermal zone about people occupancy rate, internal heat gains due to lighting and to appliances and the availability of heating and/or cooling system for the space (see Figure 8).



ABC 🎾



	2	Zone Summary	r.															-
Table of Contents	[Area [m2]	Conditioned (Y/N)	Part o Floor Area	of Total a (Y/N)	Volume [m3]	Multiplier	Ab Gros	bove Gro ss Wall A	und U area Gros m2]	Underground is Wall Area [m2]	Window Glass Area [m2]	Opening Area [m2]	Lighting [W/m2]	People [m per person	.2 1]	Plug and Process [W/m2]
Top	Ì	THERMAL	655.91	Yes		Yes	4958.67	1.0	0	641	14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.0000	10.0	0	6.0000
Annual Building Utility Performance Summary		THERMAL	1226.21	Va		Va	0245 71	10	0	024	1.01	0.00	150.65	150.65	0.0000	10.0		6.0000
Input Verification and Results Summary	≯	ZONE 2	1250.21	165		Ies	9345.71	1.0	-	924		0.00	158.05	158.05	0.0000	10.0	0	6.0000
Demand End Use Components Summary		Total	1892.11				14304.38		-	1565	5.18	0.00	158.65	158.65	0.0000	10.0	0	6.0000
Source Energy End Use Components Summary		Total	1892.11				14304.38			1565	5.18	0.00	158.65	158.65	0.0000	10.0	0	6.0000
Component Sizing Summary		Unconditioned Total	0.00				0.00			C	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00				
Surface Shadowing Summary		Not Part of	0.00			-	0.00		-	0	00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-		+	_
Adaptive Comfort Summary	l	Total	0.00				0.00					0.00	0.00	0.00				
Initialization Summary																		
Annual Heat Emissions Summary	0	maque Exterio	r															
Climatic Data Summary	Г	paque zaterio												-		-		
Envelope Summary			Co	onstruction R	eflectance	U-Fac	tor with F	ulm [W/m2 K	- U-Fact	tor no Fil	m [W/m2- K]	Gross Are [m]	2] Net A:	iea /	[deg]	[deg] C	erdinal D	Direction
Shading Summary	ŀ	SURFACE 2	EXTERIO	OR WALL	0.30			0.656	5		0.727	162.3	1 162	31	180.00	90.00		S
Lighting Summary	ŀ	SURFACE 4	EXTERIO	OR WALL	0.30			0.650	6		0.727	230.9	6 230	56	270.00	90.00		W E
Equipment Summary		SURFACE 6	EXTERIO	OR WALL	0.30			0.656	5		0.727	162.3	1 162	31	0.00	90.00		N
HVAC Sizing Summary	T	SURFACE 1	E	XTERIOR FLOOR	0.30			0.345	5		0.365	655.9	1 655	91	0.00	180.00		
Coil Sizing Details	ŀ	SURFACE 3	EXTERI	OR ROOF	0.30			0.349	9		0.367	655.9	1 655.	91	0.00	0.00		_
System Summary	ſ	SURFACE	EXTERIO	OR WALL	0.30			0.656	5		0.727	296.1	3 296	13	0.00	90.00		N
Outdoor Air Summary	E	xterior Fenest	ration						-				_	_				
Object Count Summary	-																	
Energy Meters				Glass	Frame Div	vider	Area of	Area of	Glass U-	Glass	Hass Visible	Frame	Divide	Shade	Pares	t Azimuth	Tilt	Cardinal
Sensible Heat Gain Summary			Construc	tion Area [m2]	Area [m2]	Area [m2] O ₁	pening [m2]	Openings [m2]	[W/m2-	HGC T	ransmittance	[W/m2-K]	[W/m2-K	Control	Surfac	e [deg]	[deg]	Direction
LEED Summary		SUB SG	EXTER	IOR 150.45	0.00	0.00	150.65	150.45	2 702	0.600	0.401			Ne	SURFAC	3 100.00	00.00	5
		1	WINDC	OWS 100.00	0.00	0.00	108.00	108.00	2.703	0.000	0.401			140	1	1 180.00	50.00	2

Figure 8: Input Data Summaries

2.6 Improved output data visualization and HVAC consumption calculation

The determination of the energy performance of the building in the previous release of the tool was managed by the user and the calculation of overall energy needs and primary energy uses required an analysis of simulation outcomes and some mathematical operations between given output data.

More in detail, to do this, after the simulation run, the user had to open the "Result Summary" sheet. By clicking on "Open DView for Detailed Reports" button, a visualizer is launched (see Figure 9).







Among the graphical and tabular layouts, the "Time Series" sheet, (see Figure 10) provides, on the right, generated output variables. Here, the user may choose which ones to plot over the graphs, referred to the entire simulation period. By selecting the first or the second box, user may choose if plotting the variable on upper or lower graph (or in both).



Figure 10: Outcomes analysis and visualization by mean of DView interface.

By right-clicking on the graph area, user may save data (both in numeric format and in graphical format) in different ways (see Figure 11). Also, he might send all data to Excel: by mean of the "Send to Excel" command, Excel is launched and data are fit in columns automatically.

how Monthly Values 😰								
	Mean	Min	Max	Sum	Std Dev	Avg Daily Min		Avg Dail
All								
Site Outdoor Air Drybulb Temperature								
Site Outdoor Air Wetbulb Temperature								
Electricity/Facility								
Zone Air System Sensible Heating Energy								
 THERMAL ZONE 1 Run Period Hourty (J) 								
Jan	4153471.8004	1459701.3464	5345965.3313	3086029547.7337	782580.7088	3451532.5433		4004278
Feb	2971447.3204	3	4412178,4142	1996812599.2922	960243.4918	1715758.9584		3834454
Mar	1166517.5954	3	3764686.7824	567889090.9463	1104672.6698	580190.0705		1898466
Apr	355323.6291	3	2488477.3617	255833012.9339	523273.5032	240852.3359		1320064
May	3	3	5	5	5	0		
Jun	3	3	3	5	2	3		
Jul	3	3	3	5	5	3		
Aug	3	3	3	5	3	3		
Sep	3	3	3	5	3	3		
Oct	407705.2217	2	1991173.7935	303332684.9717	530426.7022	439715.9598	Cepy data to cipboard	12903
Nov	2152973.0369	3	1992513.3348	1550140586.5387	826250.2112	1441708.8798	Save data to Cov	2631166
Dec	3754214.6272	968749.2542	5316253.2725	2793135682.6061	933447.9057	3073258.0714	Send data to tacet	4238483
Total	1239401.3611	3	5345985.3313	10857155922.865	1657239.4558	380.296.7057		1533823
 THERMAL ZONE 2 Run Period Hourty (J) 								
Jan	4253005.2907	1575659.4406	\$491339.1609	31,59982930.9609	799629.9461	3548965.4365		4770291
Feb	3093737.2814	3	4545862.3368	2078991453.0694	966448.3509	1824631.3009		3964065
Mar	1240480.3344	0	3886174.7162	922917368.7607	1129697.3147	598637.4571		1943760
Apr	386044.9459	3	2562463.2575	277952361.0706	555526.7309	230211.8979		1249483
May	3	3	3	5	3	3		
Jun	3	3	3	5	2	3		
Jul	3	3	5	5	5	3		
Aug	3	3	3	0	3	3		
Sep	3	3	3	9	3	3		
Oct	442501.4113	0	2086277.2024	329221050.0172	563209.9095	438365.5824		1307152
Nov	2223881.9521	3	4134962.9656	1601195005.488	540940.7842	1495106.0741		270877
Dec	3842231.1228	965301.9162	5407010.3748	2858619955.3264	950099.2268	3148925.9693		4336790
Total	1282296.6403	3	5491339.1609	11232918569.427	1699298.2725	913037.8934		1585471
1 THERMAL ZONE 4 Run Period Hourly (/)								
THERMAL ZONE 5 Run Period Hourty (7)								
Zone Air System Sensible Cooling Energy								
Zone Air Relative Humidity								
DistrictHeatingFacility								
District as long as lite								

Figure 11: "Statistics" sheet in DView interface and right-click menu.

After that, the user may combine zone output to get the building overall performance for each service.



ABC 🎾

X	Foglio1 - Microsoft Excel	(Attivazione del prodotto n	on riuscita)		- • ×
File Home Inserisci Layout di pagina Formule Dat	i Revisione Visualizza				ద 🍘 🗆 🖨 🖾
Calibri - 11 - A A = =	Testo a capo	Generale *		🔜 🏣 🏞 🛅	Σ · Δ7
	E Unicci a allinea al centre y	00, 0, 0, 0, 00, 00	Formattazione Formatta	Stili Inserisci Elimina Formato	Ordina Trova e
	p. Be onisci e annea al centro -	- 70 000 ,00 ÷,0	condizionale * come tabella *	cella * * * *	2 * e filtra * seleziona *
Appunti G Carattere G A	Allineamento (s	Numeri	Still	Celle	Modifica
Hours since 00:00 Jan 1					
D			E		F G H
1 Zone Air System Sensible Heating Energy: THERMAL ZONE 2 R	un Period Hourly (J) Zone A	ir System Sensible Heat	ing Energy: THERMAL ZON	E 1 Run Period Hourly (J)	
2	997869			994641	
4	1.04E+06			1.03E+06	
5	1.05E+06			1.05E+06	
6	1.06E+06			1.06E+06	
7	1.06E+06			1.05E+06	
8	1.05E+06			1.05E+06	
9	1.04E+06			1.04E+06	
10	1.04E+06			1.04E+06	
11	1.04E+06			1.03E+06	
12	1.022+06			1.022+06	
14	984459			981397	
15	966192			963178	
16	956134			953170	
17	948834			945920	
18	949775			946896	
19	960920			958049	
20	980192			977292	
21	988986			986030	
22	983379			980351	
23	970319			967218	
24	966596			963373	
26	975100			971834	
27	980758			977461	
28	982835			979519	
29	982997			979672	
30	982926			979601	
31	984901			981584	
32	986836			983532	
33	986177			982893	
34	982171			978911	
36	969120			965922	
37	961535			958373	
38	953316			950193	
39	949194			946113	
40	950892			947855	
41	955442			952449	
42	958157			955207	
M + + H Plot Data Foglio1			1	1	> D
Pronto		Media: 178754.	8888 Conteggio: 43805 So	mma: 7829464130 🖽 🗆 🖽 100	Bi (=) (+) .

Figure 12: Output data sent to excel

In the new release, the "Step 11 - HVAC and Primary Energy" was introduced. After a successful simulation run, the user may look at main output data in a more intuitive way and set characteristics of HVAC systems, by clicking on "Step 11 - HVAC and Primary Energy" command. By mean of a simple table, one can get the calculation of building energy consumption by source of energy (electricity, gas) and in terms of primary energy. Here, the spreadsheet editor installed on the user's computer will be opened, to show the simulation output. This module is divided in the following sections, where yellow-colored fields mean that the user must input missing data:

- Building data;
- Ventilation;
- Heating System;
- Cooling System;
- Building Energy Consumption.

In "Building Data" section, the user must input the geometric building data. More in detail, it is asked to input the building volume and floor area of zones that are controlled by HVAC systems.

BUILDING DATA						
Heated/Cooled Building Volume (USER INPUT) 500 m ³						
Heated/Cooled Building Floor Area (USER INPUT)	1500	m ²				

Figure 13: Building data section in step 11.

The ventilation part requires input for a proper calculation of the latent thermal load in the building.



VENTILATION							
Site Height	0	m					
Water Vapour Rate	65	g/(h*person)					
People Occupancy Rate	0.04	people/m ²					
Floor Area	1500	m ²					
Contemporaneity factor	1	-					
Design Air Flow Rate	39.6	m ³ /(h*person)					

Figure 14: Ventilation section in step 11.

The "Heating System" section shows the Net Sensible Heating Energy Demand, in kWh/m³ and the Peak Sensible Heating Power, in kW, obtained from the simulation. This information gives the opportunity to the user to understand at a glance the performance of the designed envelope and to size the generator of the heating system. Moreover, the user may set the characteristics of the heating system.

HEATING SYSTEM				
Net Sensible Heating Energy Demand	5.46	kWh/m ³		
Peak Sensible Heating Power	27.78	kW		
Heating Setpoint Temperature	20	°C		
Indoor Relative Humidity Setpoint	50	%		
Type of Generation Subsystem	Air Source Heat Pump			
Nominal COP at Source Reference Temperature	3	[-]		
Source Reference Temperature for COP Value	7	°C		
Distribution Subsystem Efficiency	0.99	[0-1]		
Emitting Units Efficiency	0.95	[0-1]		
Control Subsystem Efficiency	0.98	[0-1]		
Heating System Auxiliary Devices Electric Power	0	W		

Figure 15: Heating System section in step 11.

This "Cooling System" section shows the Net Sensible and Latent Cooling Energy Demand, in kWh/m³ and the Peak Sensible and Latent Cooling Power, in kW, obtained from the simulation. This information gives the opportunity to the user to understand at a glance the performance of the designed envelope and to size the generator of the cooling system. Moreover, the user may set the characteristics of the cooling system.

COOLING SYSTEM				
Net Sensible Cooling Energy Demand	7.36	kWh/m ³		
Peak Sensible Cooling Power	13.89	kW		
Net Latent Cooling Energy Demand	0.00	kWh/m ³		
Peak Latent Cooling Power	0.00	kW		
Cooling Setpoint Temperature	26	°C		
Indoor Relative Humidity Setpoint	50	%		
Type of Generation Subsystem Air Source Heat Pump				
Nominal EER at Source Reference Temperature	3	[-]		
Source Reference Temperature for EER Value	35	°C		
Distribution Subsystem Efficiency	0.98	[0-1]		
Emitting Units Efficiency	0.97	[0-1]		
Control Subsystem Efficiency	0.97	[0-1]		
Cooling System Auxiliary devices electric power	0	W		

Figure 16: Cooling System section in step 11.



In the "Building Energy Consumption" section, the table shows results about the overall energy consumption of the building, in a form of a balance, considering energy needs outcomes of the dynamic simulation and data input in previous sections. The upper part shows annual electric energy needs figuring out for each service type (heating, cooling, lighting, domestic hot water and other equipment as indoor appliances). Results are shown both in absolute terms (in kWh) and related to the building size (in kWh/m³). Moreover, the overall electric energy consumption is shown, computed as the sum of electric consumption for all listed services.

By default, the green column is highlighted. It means that the computation is performed assuming values obtained from the simulation. However, the user may want to merge this energy balance with custom calculation (i.e. figuring out from other software or fixing some modeling conventions). To do that, one has to switch from "Simulation Output" to "User Input" in the second line of the table. By clicking on the field containing the option value, a drop down menu is prompted thanks to which, user can switch the option. If "User Input" option is selected the yellow column will be used for calculations. Mind that user may copy some simulation outcomes in this column and modify just the values he need to fix.

Going further, the amount of Electric Energy provided by Renewable Energy Systems (RES) is shown. Even in this field, one can keep simulation output or input custom values from other calculation.

Then, the Net Building Energy Demand is provided as the difference between Total Electric Energy Demand and Electric Energy from RES.

In case of a gas boiler generator, even gas Energy Demand for Heating will be prompted.

In the last section, the user must input the Electric to Primary Energy Factor, according to the national electric generation system. This coefficient is used to convert electric energy consumption into its corresponding value in terms of primary energy, as shown in last two lines.

The Building Total Non-Renewable Energy Use will show the annual primary energy required by the building (both in absolute value, kWh, and related to its volume, in kWh/m³).



BUILDING ENERGY CONSUMPTION				
ANNUAL ELECTRIC ENERGY NEEDS	SIMULATIC	N OUTPUT		
	USER	SIMULATION		
- Heating [kWh]	1092	1092	kWh	
	2.18	2.18	kWh/m ³	
- Cooling [kWh]	767	767	kWh	
	1.53	1.53	kWh/m ³	
- Lighting [kWh]	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
- Domestic Hot Water (USER INPUT) [kWh]	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
- Other Equipment [kWh]	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
Total electric Energy Demand	18	59	kWh	
	3.72		kWh/m ³	
	USER	SIMULATION		
Electric energy from RES	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
Net Building Electric Energy Demand	18	59	kWh	
	3.	72	kWh/m ³	
ANNUAL ENERGY FROM GAS NEEDS	SIMULATIC	N OUTPUT		
	USER	SIMULATION		
Gas Energy Demand for Heating	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
Electric to primary energy conversion coefficient	Electric to primary energy conversion coefficient 1.95			
Building Total Non-renewable Energy Consumption	36	25	kWh	
Building Total Non-renewable Specific Energy Consumption 7.25			kWh/m ³	

Figure 17: Building Energy Consumption section in step 11, with simulated outcomes.

BUILDING ENERGY CONSUMPTION				
ANNUAL ELECTRIC ENERGY NEEDS	ECTRIC ENERGY NEEDS USER INPUT			
	USER	SIMULATION		
- Heating [kWh]	1092	1092	kWh	
	2.18	2.18	kWh/m ³	
- Cooling [kWh]	767 767		kWh	
	1.53	1.53	kWh/m ³	
- Lighting [kWh]	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
- Domestic Hot Water (USER INPUT) [kWh]	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
- Other Equipment [kWh]	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
Total electric Energy Demand	18	59	kWh	
	3.72		kWh/m ³	
	USER	SIMULATION		
Electric energy from RES	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
Net Building Electric Energy Demand	18	59	kWh	
	3.	72	kWh/m ³	
ANNUAL ENERGY FROM GAS NEEDS	USER INPUT		*	
	USER	SIMULATION	·	
Gas Energy Demand for Heating	0	0	kWh	
	0.00	0.00	kWh/m ³	
Electric to primary energy conversion coefficient	1.	95		
Building Total Non-renewable Energy Consumption	36	25	kWh	
Building Total Non-renewable Specific Energy Consumption	on 7.25 kWh/m ³		kWh/m ³	

Figure 18: Building Energy Consumption section in step 11, with customized input.



ABC 21

The installation files of the tool along with the user manual can be downloaded at the following link:

https://www.dropbox.com/sh/2r8930rjt8skcd0/AAA2XU6JHhD2eK83q-ZMhqsDa?dl=0





3. ONLINE COURSES

A MOOC (Massive Online Open Course), already developed by POLIMI, has been updated with new lectures including the main contents added to the handbook presented in Chapter 1. More in detail, the list of lectures of the MOOC and the indication of new contents (underlined) is provided hereafter.

- [1] The global warming issue: the impact of the building sector
- [2] Integrated design concept and Economics of green buildings
- [3] <u>Climatic map of Africa: Climate A</u>
- [4] <u>Climatic map of Africa: Climate B</u>
- [5] <u>Climatic map of Africa: Climate C</u>
- [6] The building's energy balance
- [7] Basic concepts of heat transfer
- [8] Standard and adaptive approach for thermal comfort
- [9] Fundamentals of visual comfort
- [10] Site planning and Building design
- [11] Roof and walls design by climatic zone (mass, insulation, solar protection)
- [12] Embodied energy of materials and life cycle of buildings
- [13] Solar geometry and polar diagrams
- [14] Solar radiation
- [15] Solar shading
- [16] Air movements inside and around buildings
- [17] Cross ventilation and Stack effect: concept and opening sizing method
- [18] Technologies/techniques for enhancing natural ventilation
- [19] Natural cooling: concept and sizing method
- [20] Glass, light and heat type of glazing
- [21] Window sizing procedure and Tips for window design
- [22] Systems to enhance natural lighting
- [23] <u>Recommendations by climatic zone</u>
- [24] Efficient energy conversion technologies
- [25] HVAC types and features
- [26] Solar PV and Solar Thermal
- [27] Wind Energy, Biomass and Hydro Power



The front cover of the new MOOC, which is reported at the beginning of each lesson, is shown hereafter.

POLITECNICO PORTECIÓN	
Niccolò Aste	
Solar geometry and polar diagrams	
	Africa-Europe Bioclimatic Collaboration

The entire course is available at the following link:

https://www.pok.polimi.it/courses/course-v1:Polimi+SustArch103+2022_M11/about



4. FEEDBACK FROM ATTENDEES

During the development stages, the 3 training tools were tested by students involved in the project. As a result of such testing activity, on-field feedbacks were collected in order to further improve the tools.

More in detail, regarding the handbook the project team prepared an initial version containing information on the various climates (building a climate map, defining different zones based on the impact of climate on the energy performance of buildings), the relations between the various climates and the energy response of buildings, their energy efficiency, the design methods and the use of various technologies in the field of energy and zero-energy buildings and communities. The contents of the handbook were shared with the consortium partners.

About the software (BESTenergy) a specific online training webinar has been arranged on 14/12/2022 in order to show the main functions of the developed tool as well as to propose a practical exercise, consisting in the energy modelling of a simple building with 2 zones (the text of exercise has been reported in the appendix of the present document).

The webinar was joined by an overall number of 39 students (14 students from FC.ID, 23 from EAMAU and 2 from AUI). The lesson included evaluation questionnaires on the three tools. The questions and the replies are summarized hereafter.

	Average obtained point (1 bad – 3 good)
BESTenergy section:	
Could you easily install the software?	2.1
Could you carry out at least one simulation?	1.9
How do you evaluate the process to create a new material/component?	2.2
How easy is the tool to use?	2.33
Is the HVAC section comprehensive and easy to use?	1.9
Which improvement would you suggest to the developers?	 Add illustration to interface Just good. The Best energy can't be used on other software, so you must develop for other software such as ArchiCAD, cinema 4D cause lot of people don't use SketchUp. After running the simulation, we need to put the volume and area of the building in the resulting excel sheet; it would be better if it is done automatically since this information is already given in Sketchup. Integrate a graphical view of the simulation data Useful Add French translation
Handbook section	
Did you read some chapters of the book?	1.7
Do you consider the topic treated interesting?	2.3



Are the figures clear enough?	2.05
Which are the most interesting topics treated in the book?	 1.4. Architecture in tropical climates 3.3. Site planning 3.1. Passive solar 4. Energy efficient buildings design 1.5. A new energy system for cities 3.6. Daylighting 2.1. Climatic parameters 3. Climate responsive building design 3.9. Building materials 2. Climate and Building Design 1.4. Architecture in tropical climates 3.9. Building materials 1.4. Architecture in tropical climates 3.9. Building materials 1.4. Architecture in tropical climates 3.0. Building materials 3.1. Climate and Building Design 3.2. Climate and Building Design 3.3. Climate and Building Design 3.4. Architecture in tropical climates 3.5. Climate and Building Design 3.6. Dimate and Building Design 3.7. Climate and Building Design 3.6. Climate responsive building design
Which topic, interesting for you, is not adequately treated?	 Very good According to me, All topics are adequately treated. Integrated design Building design Nothing
MOOK section	
Do you attend the course? No Yes Partially	44,4%
Did you complete the course?	
 No Yes 	57,9%
What do you think about the quality of the lectures?	2.3





The evaluations and suggestions were used to improve the contents of the tools and examine a number of issues in more detail, and to fine-tune the outcomes in order to satisfy specific requests that emerged during the webinar.

5. APPENDIX

Hereafter, the content of the exercise shared with the students during the webinar is reported.



1) Exercise object

The following exercise consists in the development of the dynamic energy simulation model, adopting the BESTenergy tool, of a building constituted by two thermal zones: one designated for residential use and the other one for tertiary use (office). The main glazed façade is oriented toward South.

The heating and cooling sensible energy demand is requested for different configurations.

The building will be simulated in different climatic contexts.



2) Envelope components

In the following sections are shown the compositions of the different envelope components and the thermo-physical properties of the materials.

2.1) Opaque components

The building envelope consists of the following components.

Material	Thickness [cm]	Conductivity [W/mK]	Density [kg/m ³]	Specific heat [J/kg K]
Exterior plaster (lime-plaster)	1,5	0,7	1400	840
Expanded polystyrene	4	0,036	30	1340
Brick	12	0,8	1800	840
Interior plaster (lime-plaster)	1,5	0,7	1400	840
Exterior ground floor	T1. : .]	Car la dista	Densites	6
Exterior ground floor Material	Thickness [cm]	Conductivity [W/mK]	Density [kg/m ³]	Specific heat
Exterior ground floor Material Ceramic tile	Thickness [cm]	Conductivity [W/mK] 1	Density [kg/m ³] 2300	Specific heat [J/kg K] 840
Exterior ground floor Material Ceramic tile Sand/cement screed	Thickness [cm] 1 4	Conductivity [W/mK] 1 0,93	Density [kg/m ³] 2300 1800	Specific heat [J/kg K] 840 840
Exterior ground floor Material Ceramic tile Sand/cement screed Expanded polystyrene	Thickness [cm] 1 4 4 4	Conductivity [W/mK] 1 0,93 0,036	Density [kg/m ³] 2300 1800 30	Specific heat [J/kg K] 840 840 1340
Exterior ground floor Material Ceramic tile Sand/cement screed Expanded polystyrene Reinforced concrete slab	Thickness [cm] 1 4 4 26	Conductivity [W/mK] 1 0,93 0,036 0,74	Density [kg/m ³] 2300 1800 30 1800	Specific heat [J/kg K] 840 840 1340 840



Exterior roof				
Material	Thickness [cm]	Thermal conductivity [W/mK]	Density [kg/m³]	Specific heat [J/kg K]
Ceramic tile	1	1	2300	840
Sand/cement screed	4	0,93	1800	840
Expanded polystyrene	4	0,036	30	1340
Lightweight screed	10	0,083	600	880
Exterior plaster (lime-sand)	1,5	0,9	1800	840

For each one, the U-value, decrement factor (attenuation) and time lag factor must be calculated.

2.2) Glazing components

The building has two windows facing south with thermal transmittance (U-value) of 2,7 W/m^2K (the value already takes into account the impact of the frame and the junctions between this and the glass). Also, this component has a solar heat gain coefficient of 0,8 and a visible transmittance of 0,7.

3) Defining users' behaviors

In the following table are shown the thermal zone parameters of the operative conditions for the ground floor. The total internal gain is a mean value that takes into consideration the loads from the people occupancy, electric equipment thermal load and the use of the lighting system.

Profile name	Residential	Office
Total internal gain	4 W/m ² (mean value on the	6 W/m^2 (mean value on the whole year,
	whole year, 24h/24h)	24h/24h)
Ventilation airflow	0,3 volume/hour (mean value on	0,6 volume/hour (mean value on the
	the whole year, 24h/24h)	whole year, 24h/24h)
Constant heating	20 °C	20 °C
setpoint temperature		
Constant cooling	26 °C	26 °C
setpoint temperature		

4) Shading devices

A horizontal overhang to better screen the ground floor during the summer season allowing the penetration of the solar radiation during the winter season (considering the winter and summer solstice) must be designed. The solar elevation angle is:

 $\beta_{\text{max}} = (90 - \varphi) + 23.5$ $\beta_{\text{max}} = (90 - \varphi) - 23.5$

1



2